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This entailed implemen�ng plans, processes and 
systems to meet government and health 
requirements.

With COVID-19 s�ll wreaking havoc across the 
globe, our work was clearly cut out from the onset.

A delicate balance was needed.

The 2020/21 season did not start out like any of 
us planned and it was excep�onally hard on us as a 
sport and our people, who have a genuine love for 
our game and what it means to Zimbabwe.

On the one hand, we totally understood and 
supported the pandemic lockdown restric�ons, 
including bans on spor�ng ac�vi�es, imposed by the 
Government in a bid to curb the spread of the virus, 
while on the other we were desperate to maintain 
ZC's viability and, more importantly, to save the 
game itself from going under.

Our major task was to recommence training, 
compe��ons and programmes in a safe, responsible 
and low risk manner.

With determina�on, we became the first 
organisa�on in Zimbabwe to implement the bio-
secure bubble concept, in the process se�ng up a 
template for the resump�on of spor�ng ac�vi�es 
that we believe the rest of the na�onal spor�ng 
associa�ons in the country have found valuable.

This Annual Report spans what has been 
one of my most challenging �mes as 
Zimbabwe Cricket (ZC) Chairman.

The future of ZC is premised on having a decent 
pipeline that produces proper cricketers and it goes 
without saying that a strong club system fixes the 
problems at first-class level and when first-class 
cricket is fixed, there is no problem at na�onal team 
level. 

The launch of the Na�onal Premier League, a 
na�onal one-day club compe��on, was one of the 
major highlights of the 2020/21 term.  

Over the past five years, we have made 
significant strides in women's cricket, including, for 
the first �me in the history of the game in 

With that in place, I am happy to report that the 
2020/21 season saw us successfully hos�ng all our 
major domes�c compe��ons as well as incoming 
tours by the Pakistan Senior Women's Na�onal 
Team, Pakistan Senior Men's Na�onal Team, South 
Africa Emerging Women's Team and South Africa 'A' 
Team, while the Zimbabwe Senior Men's Na�onal 
Team toured Pakistan and the United Arab Emirates.

It is important to note that with over 2 500 PCR 
tests carried out, no posi�ve COVID-19 cases were 
reported within our bio-secure bubbles during the 
period under review.

Indeed, our overriding priority as ZC remains to 
ensure the health and wellbeing of our na�on and 
communi�es, including players, coaches, staff and 
supporters.

It is perhaps the biggest irony of our life�me that 
the season that was supposed to sound the death 
knell for our game turned out to be one of our best 
years ever.

Next we unveiled two new domes�c 
compe��ons for women, the Fi�y50 Challenge and 
the Women's T20 Cup involving four provincial 
teams.

I believe the two tournaments have given a fresh 
impetus to my Board's efforts to grow and 
strengthen women's cricket throughout the country.

ZC also produced a promo�onal video for the 
campaign.

The year got even be�er with His Excellency 
President Emmerson Mnangagwa officially launching 
ZC's 'Visit Zimbabwe' promo�onal campaign aimed 
at boos�ng the country's tourism in partnership with 
the Zimbabwe Tourism Authority.

The ini�a�ve was expected to leverage on the 
popularity of cricket which a�racts millions of 
audiences across the globe to help make Zimbabwe 
a tourist des�na�on of choice.

Zimbabwe, giving na�onal contracts to women 
players and offering allowances to non-contracted 
women players.

By launching the provincial compe��ons, we 
have gone a gear higher and we will not stop un�l 
our na�onal women's team is right among the best 
in the world.

This saw the Zimbabwe na�onal cricket teams – 
whether on the field of play, training or travelling – 
wearing shirts bearing the 'Visit Zimbabwe' branding.

In what was indeed a season of firsts, we were all 
proud as one of our own, Langton Rusere, made 
history by becoming the first black African to stand in 
a Test match – he was one of the on-field umpires for 
the first Test between Zimbabwe and Pakistan at 
Harare Sports Club.

In order for us as an organisa�on to navigate 
through all the challenges that 2020/21 threw at us, 
my Board unanimously endorsed the appointment of 
Givemore Makoni as the ZC's substan�ve managing 
director.

While serving in an ac�ng capacity since 1 
September 2018, he successfully spearheaded our 
restructuring exercise and was at the forefront of 
implemen�ng an intricate debt resolu�on plan which 
ul�mately saw ZC paying off debts amoun�ng to 
US$27 million that had been choking our 
organisa�on.

I would like to once again congratulate Makoni 
on his confirma�on and wish him all the best at the 
helm of our secretariat.

The integrity of ZC and the sport itself is of 
paramount importance and, therefore, the need to 
maintain high levels of honesty and professionalism 
at leadership and all levels of the game cannot be 
overemphasised. 

S�ll on a sad note, death robbed us of former 
sports minister Aenias Chigwedere, former ZC 
president and chief execu�ve officer David Ellman-
Brown as well as former cricketers Jono Clarke and 
Jackie du Preez.

We have supported each other, adapted to a new 
opera�ng environment and encouraged and 
mo�vated Zimbabweans to keep moving. 

For a spor�ng discipline that prides itself as the 
gentlemen's game, this was a very shameful episode.

Such a remarkable year was however marred by 
the banning of former Zimbabwe captain and coach 
Heath Streak from all cricket ac�vi�es for eight years 
a�er he accepted five charges of breaching the ICC 
An�-Corrup�on Code.

We will forever cherish their contribu�ons to our 
game.

In conclusion, I would like to reiterate my 
admira�on for the manner in which, across this 
period of disrup�on, working together, we have 
collec�vely risen to the challenges presented by 
COVID-19. 

Allow me to also place on record my apprecia�on 
for the incredible support and guidance that we 
received from the Government and the Sports and 
Recrea�on Commission.

Finally, I would like to recognise and thank my 
fellow Board Members as well as give a special thank 
you to the dedicated people at ZC – your ongoing 
hard work throughout an incredibly trying year is 
much appreciated.

To this end, I would like to thank all those across 
the system for the commitment and dedica�on you 
have shown to keeping our game alive and well in 
these unprecedented and uncertain �mes.

CHAIRMAN
TAVENGWA MUKUHLANI

IN WHAT WAS INDEED A SEASON OF FIRSTS, 
WE WERE ALL PROUD AS ONE OF OUR OWN, 
LANGTON RUSERE, MADE HISTORY BY BECOMING 
THE FIRST BLACK AFRICAN TO STAND IN A TEST 
MATCH – HE WAS ONE OF THE ON-FIELD 
UMPIRES FOR THE FIRST TEST BETWEEN ZIMBABWE 
AND PAKISTAN AT HARARE SPORTS CLUB.

THE YEAR GOT EVEN BETTER WITH HIS EXCELLENCY 
PRESIDENT EMMERSON MNANGAGWA OFFICIALLY 
LAUNCHING ZC’S ‘VISIT ZIMBABWE’ PROMOTIONAL 
CAMPAIGN AIMED AT BOOSTING THE COUNTRY’S 
TOURISM IN PARTNERSHIP WITH THE ZIMBABWE 
TOURISM AUTHORITY.

“

“

“

“
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Zimbabwe Cricket (ZC) is the na�onal 
governing body for compe��ve cricket in 
the Republic of Zimbabwe, responsible for 

the day-to-day management and administra�on of 
the sport.

Membership is made up of associa�ons 
represen�ng each of the country's 10 administra�ve 
provinces.

While each associa�on acts autonomously within 
its geographic border, all work together for the 
greater good of the game at na�onal level.

MEMBER ASSOCIATIONS

· Bulawayo Metropolitan Cricket Associa�on

· Midlands Cricket Associa�on

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The ZC Board of Directors provides the highest level 
of strategic guidance and governance to the 
organisa�on. The current ZC Board of Directors, 
elected into office on 14 June 2019, is as follows:

· Fiona Ndlovu

· Bornface Machuwaire

· Tafadzwa Madoro

· Godwin Dube

· Harare Metropolitan Cricket Associa�on

· Sylvester Matshaka – Vice-Chairman

· Lincoln Bhila

· Ronald Chibwe

· Godfrey Nyadongo

· Matabeleland North Cricket Associa�on

· Tavengwa Mukuhlani – Chairman

· Maureen Kuchocha

· Lloyd Mhishi

· Arthur Maposa

· Mashonaland East Cricket Associa�on

· Manicaland Cricket Associa�on

· Mashonaland Central Cricket Associa�on

· Matabeleland South Cricket Associa�on

· Mashonaland West Cricket Associa�on

· Masvingo Cricket Associa�on

Governance

Wilbert Mandinde (Chairperson), Moses Mtombeni, 
Phillip Ndlovu

Audit and Risk

Finance, Commercial and Administra�on

Lincoln Bhila (Chairperson), Ronald Chibwe, Godfrey 
Nyadongo

Development 

Givemore Makoni (Managing Director), Hamilton 
Masakadza (Director of Cricket), Feroza Shariff 
(Head: Finance and Administra�on), Joyce Kwashira 
(Company Secretary and Human Resources 
Manager)

Human Resources and Remunera�on

Godfrey Nyadongo (Chairperson), Maureen 
Kuchocha, Phillip Ndlovu

Bornface Machuwaire (Chairperson), Godwin Dube, 
John Makuwalo, Tafadzwa Madoro, Godfrey Kaswa, 
Fiona Ndlovu

Disciplinary

Nomina�on

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

PLEASE NOTE: The new Cricket and Selec�on 
Commi�ees and the Appeals Board will be 
announced in due course.

Lloyd Mhishi (Chairperson), Sylvester Matshaka, 
Arthur Maposa, John Grey Makuwalo, Phillip Ndlovu

Sylvester Matshaka (Chairperson), Bornface 
Machuwaire, Lloyd Mhishi, Maureen Kuchocha, Abel 
Mubango

Moses Mtombeni (Chairperson), Abel Mubango, 
Sylvester Matshaka
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Tavengwa Mukuhlani 
Chairman
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Sylvester Matshaka
Vice-Chairman

Bornface MachuwaireBornface Machuwaire Fiona Ndlovu Lincoln Bhila

Arthur Maposa Tafadzwa Madoro Godwin Dube Ronald Chibwe Godfrey Nyadongo Lloyd Mhishi

Maureen Kuchocha

Givemore Makoni
Managing Director

Hamilton Masakadza
Director of Cricket

EX-OFFICIO MEMBERS



FORMER ZIMBABWE CAPTAIN ELTON CHIGUMBURA 
RETIRED FROM ALL FORMS OF INTERNATIONAL 
CRICKET AT THE CONCLUSION OF ZIMBABWE’S 
TOUR TO PAKISTAN IN NOVEMBER 2020. 
THE 34-YEAR-OLD ALL-ROUNDER BOWED OUT 
HAVING MADE 213 ODI, 14 TEST AND 57 T20I 
APPEARANCES FOR ZIMBABWE. 

“

“



With our revenues constrained, we seriously 
considered laying off staff and cu�ng salaries so as 
to future-proof the organisa�on.

Pleased with our bio-secure arrangements, the 
Government, through the Sports and Recrea�on 
Commission (SRC), gave us the clearance to resume 
with our cricket ac�vi�es.

We had very limited op�ons to safeguard our 
future.

We did not waste �me launching the Na�onal 
Premier League, a one-day club compe��on that got 
our 2020/21 season underway, with Takashinga 
emerging as the inaugural champions.

But having already resorted to those cost-cu�ng 
measures prior to the pandemic, those op�ons were 
not feasible.

Either we had to adapt or watch Zimbabwe 
Cricket (ZC) and our sport dying a slow, painful 
death.

With the health and well-being of players and 
staff always a top priority at ZC, we became the first 
spor�ng organisa�on in the country to implement 
the bio-secure bubble concept for all our elite 
domes�c cricket compe��ons as well as all 
interna�onal home tours.

So, our only alterna�ve was to live within our 
budget, which is almost en�rely funded through 
distribu�ons from the ICC.

We also unveiled provincial women's 
tournaments, the Fi�y50 Challenge that was won 
Mountaineers Women and the Women's T20 Cup 
that was li�ed by Eagles Women.

This came at huge but necessary cost as we had 
to secure accommoda�on for the teams, officials and 
support staff for the dura�on of compe��ons.

We then proceeded to stage the Logan Cup, 
Pro50 Championship and Domes�c T20 Compe��on 
which were won by Southern Rocks, Rhinos and 

We then convened a budge�ng workshop where 
we discussed our spending needs and implemented 
the necessary cuts to ensure our cost base reflected 
the tough period that we were faced with.

MANAGING DIRECTOR'S 
REPORT

10 11

Givemore Makoni

From grassroots level all the way up to the 
professional level, our sport was hit hard by the 
pandemic which resulted in clubs closing and 
matches and tournaments being postponed or 
cancelled.

Our resilience was tested but in what has been 
an unprecedented year of challenges, we have made 
impressive progress as an organisa�on and as a 
sport.

Cricket, like many other sectors, was not spared.

COVID-19 was s�ll there and there was no sign of 
it vanishing any �me soon.

Having been forced to cut short the previous 
season due to the hard lockdown restric�ons 
imposed by the Government in an effort to curb the 
spread of the virus, we knew 2020/21 was not going 
to be child's play.

Despite this, I am incredibly proud of how we as 
a team pulled together to ensure we emerge in the 
strongest possible state and ready for be�er �mes in 
the future. 

Reflec�ng on 2020/21, it is impossible to 
find anything that was not badly affected 
by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Many of our sponsors were also hugely impacted 
by the pandemic.

With an in-house team running the produc�on, 
the Zimbabwe Women versus Pakistan Women one-

In addi�on, we have secured new commercial 
partners, such as Nyaradzo Group and Ali Japan 786, 
which will help us to con�nue into the game amidst 
very challenging circumstances.

A�erwards, we had our first interna�onal series 
at home in the pandemic era when the Pakistan 
women's team visited in February, followed by their 
men's side who came in April-May.

Despite this, they have been very suppor�ve as 
we sought to find solu�ons to keep going. 

The season then concluded in style, with 
Zimbabwe Women hos�ng South Africa Emerging 
Women in Bulawayo, while the Zimbabwe A men's 
side faced their South Africa counterparts in Harare. 

In a bid to boost our fan engagement and open 
up more revenue streams, ZC launched its new 
website and also invested in live streaming 
equipment.

Overall, the interna�onal results were not 
pleasing as we only have the Test victory over 
Afghanistan, a win over Pakistan in an ICC Men's 
World Cup Super League match in Rawalpindi as well 
as a T20I victory over the same opponents in Harare 
to show for our efforts in 2020/21.

Commercially, the financial challenge we faced 
was a significant one, especially with the lucra�ve 
tour by India shelved. 

Congratula�ons to all the winners and 
congratula�ons to everyone involved for ensuring 
the success of the 2020/21 season under such trying 
circumstances.

In yet another first, ZC set up regional men's and 
women's compe��ons that saw Northerns and 
Southerns select sides clashing across all formats of 
the game.

That was followed by the tour to the United Arab 
Emirates where Zimbabwe walloped Afghanistan by 
10 wickets inside two days in the first Test between 
the two sides.

Tuskers respec�vely.

A�er our planned home series against India and 
Afghanistan and the away tours to Australia and Sri 
Lanka failed to materialise due to the COVID-19 
situa�on, we finally got our first taste of 
interna�onal cricket since the pandemic broke out 
when our men's team visited Pakistan.

A�er building such a strong pla�orm over the last 
year, it is crucial – now more than ever – that we stay 
focused on the future and that we con�nue to grow 
the game for all

I am also grateful to the ICC and our commercial 
partners whose support is vital for the funding, 
promo�on and strengthening of the game. 

day match played at Harare Sports Club on 9 
February 2021 became the first game ever that we 
live-streamed.

The support and guidance from the Chairman 
and his Board has been terrific, while the en�re 
team – the players, coaches, match officials, caterers, 
groundsmen, security guards, drivers, general hands 
and office staff – has been unwavering, innova�ve 
and resourceful throughout and I am proud of what 
we have achieved together. 

.

It immediately turned out to be a great 
investment as more than 500 000 people viewed 
that match on ZC's official YouTube channel, which 
also saw our subscribers shoo�ng up by at least 600 
percent.

We also managed to have Zimbabwe's series 
against Afghanistan in Abu Dhabi and Pakistan tour 
to Zimbabwe shown live on local television a�er we 
sealed a deal with the broadcast rights holder Total 
Sports Marke�ng and the Zimbabwe Broadcas�ng 
Corpora�on.

When all is said and done, I am proud of our 
achievements over the last 12 months, par�cularly 
as we had to overcome one of the most 
unpredictable and challenging periods for the 
organisa�on.

MANAGING DIRECTOR

The media also play a crucial role and I 
appreciate their coverage of the game.

Elsewhere, as the curtain came down on 
2020/21, we were on the verge of finalising ZC's new 
strategic plan as well as a job evalua�on and grading 
exercise.

Thank you very much.

I also thank the Government, the SRC and various 
service providers, especially for their support 
through COVID-19.

GIVEMORE MAKONI
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WITH AN IN-HOUSE TEAM RUNNING THE 
PRODUCTION, THE ZIMBABWE WOMEN VERSUS 
PAKISTAN WOMEN ONE-DAY MATCH PLAYED AT 
HARARE SPORTS CLUB ON 9 FEBRUARY 2021 
BECAME THE FIRST GAME EVER THAT WE LIVE-
STREAMED.

““



ZC appoints Dr Solomon Madzogo as chief medical 
officer, tasked with leading the safe return of cricket 
following the easing of COVID-19 lockdown 
restric�ons by ensuring compliance with coronavirus 
protocols and looking a�er the health and wellbeing 
of the organisa�on's employees, including players, 
coaches, the secretariat and other staff during the 
pandemic.

ZC draws up a 10-year plan which captures the 
essence of the organisa�on's vision and mission to 
ins�l and sustain na�onal pride in Zimbabwean 
cricket by being a successful performer in the sports 
and recrea�on industry. The plan is aimed at 
ensuring ZC remains viable and financially stable and 
becomes the most sought-a�er spor�ng brand in 
Zimbabwe

A�er the government classifies cricket is a low-risk, 
training ac�vi�es officially resume in line with the 
provisions of Statutory Instrument 115 of 2020 – 
with players of na�onal interest split into small 
groups of not more than eight and prac�sing in their 
respec�ve provinces in an effort to minimise the risk 
of COVID-19 infec�on.

JULY

JUNE AUGUST

The Na�onal Premier League, a new na�onal club 
cricket compe��on, is launched, with the inaugural 
edi�on of the tournament involving Zimbabwe's top 
nine cricket clubs: Amakhosi, Queens, Takashinga, 
Rainbow, Gladiators, Harare Kings, Great Zimbabwe, 
MidWest and Easterns. Apart from the trophy, the 
par�cipa�ng clubs' playing kits are also unveiled at a 
gli�ering ceremony.

SEPTEMBER

2020/21 HIGHLIGHTS
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The Visit Zimbabwe campaign, a ZC ini�a�ve aimed 
at promo�ng Zimbabwe as a tourist des�na�on of 
choice, is officially unveiled by President Emmerson 
Mnagangwa at a func�on held at State House. This 
campaign involves the Zimbabwe na�onal cricket 
teams – whether on the field of play, training or 
travelling – wearing shirts bearing the 'Visit 
Zimbabwe' branding.

OCTOBER
Givemore Makoni is appointed as ZC's substan�ve 
managing director, a�er he successfully spearheaded 
an intricate debt resolu�on plan and a restructuring 
exercise designed to address the organisa�on's 
perennial viability challenges and to forge a 
sustainable financial and cricket future. His 
confirma�on comes a�er he had served in ac�ng 
capacity since 1 September 2018.

DECEMBER

Zimbabwe claim their first ICC Men's Cricket World 
Cup Super League points as Blessing Muzarabani 
powers Zimbabwe to a sensa�onal Super Over 
victory over Pakistan in Rawalpindi – a�er taking five 
wickets in regula�on �me, he weaves his magic again 
as he claims two scalps in the eliminator from which 
the hosts can only manage two runs.

NOVEMBER
ZC announces the Zimbabwe Women will host their 
Pakistan counterparts in three one-dayers and two 
T20 matches at Harare Sports Club in February. The 
series – to be held in a bio-secure bubble with no 
spectators allowed – marks the first �me the 
Zimbabwe senior women's team is involved in 
interna�onal cricket since May 2019.

JANUARY
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A�er inves�ng in live streaming equipment in a bid 
to boost fan engagement and open up more revenue 
streams for ZC, the Zimbabwe Women versus 
Pakistan Women one-day match played at Harare 
Sports Club becomes the first game ever to be 
shown live on ZC's official YouTube channel, 
a�rac�ng more than 600 000 viewers.

FEBRUARY
Langton Rusere makes history by becoming the first 
black African to stand in a Test match, with the 35-
year-old being one of the on-field umpires for the 
game between Zimbabwe and Pakistan at Harare 
Sports Club. He stands in this Test with South African 
umpire Marais Erasmus, with former Zimbabwe 
cricketer Andy Pycro� being the match referee.

APRIL

Zimbabwe record an historic 10-wicket 
victory inside two days in the first Test match 
against Afghanistan played in Abu Dhabi, 
United Arab Emirates. It is not only 
Zimbabwe's first victory by a margin of 10 
wickets across all formats, but it is also our 
country's first Test win to be completed 
within two days. 

MARCH
A�er Zimbabwe Women host the South Africa 
Emerging Women's side for five one-day 
matches as part of their prepara�ons for the 
ICC Women's World Cup Qualifier 2021, the 
Zimbabwe A men's team returns to ac�on for 
the first �me in more than three years, facing 
South Africa A in four one-day matches and 
two four-day games.

MAY

14
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IN MEMORIAM

AENEAS CHIGWEDERE
(25 November 1939 – 22 January 2021)

Aeneas Chigwedere is fondly remembered for the 
crucial role he played in helping to transform cricket from 
an eli�st sport to a mass game enjoyed, played and run 
by all Zimbabweans regardless of their race, tribe, 
religion or social status.

During his �me as Educa�on, Sports and Culture 
Minister between 2001 and 2008, the game in the 
country was beset by a myriad of challenges including 
racial issues, player revolts and a ba�le for the control of 
Zimbabwe Cricket (ZC).

But Chigwedere, a renowned historian and 
educa�onist who detested eli�sm and racism, helped ZC 
to navigate the tumultuous period and in the process 
saved not only the game but Zimbabwe itself from 
a�rac�ng sanc�ons from the Interna�onal Cricket 
Council.

As a way forward, he suggested the drawing up of a 
new cons�tu�on which would usher in a substan�ve 
board – including for the first �me members with 
specialist skills – and a new democra�c dispensa�on for 
the game. 

He also recommended that cricket had to devolve to 
the country's 10 administra�ve provinces to spread the 
game and bring it into line with other na�onal spor�ng 
disciplines.

Chigwedere succumbed to COVID-19-related 
complica�ons.

DAVID ELLMAN-BROWN
(9 September 1938 – 31 December 2020)

David Ellman-Brown, who was the then Zimbabwe 
Cricket Union president when Zimbabwe a�ained Test 
status in 1992, was widely acknowledged and respected 
for his contribu�ons to the growth of the game of cricket 
in Zimbabwe.

Born in Bulawayo and schooled at St George's College 
in Harare, his involvement in cricket dates back to the 
1960s when he was treasurer of the Mashonaland 
Cricket Associa�on.

He was also the manager of the na�onal cricket team 
between 1982 and 1990, including at its inaugural 
appearance at the 1983 World Cup.

Ellman-Brown was the ZC president when the country 
gained Test status in 1992. 

Ellman-Brown passed away on New Year's Eve at his 

Upon his re�rement from Coopers & Lybrand where 
he was a senior partner, he became the ZC chief 
execu�ve officer, during which period he was also a 
member of the ICC's finance commi�ee and its cricket 
management commi�ee.

home in Harare.

(24 May 1944 – 2 June 2020)

In later years, having sold his farm, he served for a 
while as a na�onal selector, and also did coaching and 
development work.  

He was a dedicated and workmanlike opening 
batsman with a fine temperament.

His last appearance in a match of importance was in 
September 1972, when he opened the ba�ng for a 
Midlands invita�on team in a 50-over match against 
Brian Close's Interna�onal Wanderers team in Gweru and 
scored 18.

JOHN HARCOURT DU PREEZ

He quickly became a regular in the side as a bowler, 
his ba�ng taking longer to develop.  

In private life he was an accountant who eventually 
became the financial director of a tobacco company. 

Jono Clarke, as he was generally known, was an 
opening or number three batsman for Zimbabwe 
between 1967/68 and 1969/70. 

 

Jack died from cancer in Harare on 8 April 2020. 

Clarke failed to score in the first innings, caught at the 
wicket cu�ng early on, and he vowed never do to that 
again. 
However, he became an overnight hero in the second 
innings as he became the first Zimbabwean to score a 
century on his first-class début.

John Harcourt du Preez (surname pronounced 'du 
Pre-er') was one of the finest all-round cricketers in the 
history of Zimbabwean cricket.

(14 November 1942 – 8 April 2020)

A�er his re�rement he moved to Perth, Australia, 
where he died from cancer on 2 June 2020.

JONATHAN KIRKWOOD CLARKE

Consistently good performances earned him a place 
in the na�onal team for the South African tour of 
1967/68, where the first match was played against 
Western Province at Newlands in Cape Town.

Affec�onately known as Jack to family and friends, or 
o�en Jackie to his many fans, he was s�ll not quite 19 
when he was selected for the na�onal team that played 
against the New Zealand tourists to South Africa in 
1961/62, scoring four not out and taking two wickets.  

He played in a record 112 first-class matches for the 
country – in all his 120 matches he scored 4 063 runs at 
23.76 and took 296 wickets at 31.07. He was also a 
brilliant fielder, especially in the gully and close to the 
bat, taking 80 catches.

Annual Report 2020/2114



INTERNATIONAL CRICKET – MEN



ZIMBABWE IN PAKISTAN
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Chamu Chibhabha (captain) 
Faraz Akram

Ryan Burl 
Brian Chari 

Tendai Chatara 
Elton Chigumbura 

Tendai Chisoro 
Craig Ervine 

Tinashe Kamunhukamwe 
Wessly Madhevere 

Wellington Masakadza 
Carl Mumba

Richmond Mutumbami 
Blessing Muzarabani 

Richard Ngarava 
Sikandar Raza 

Milton Shumba 
Brendan Taylor 
Donald Tiripano 

Sean William

19

Zimbabwe Squad:

Annual Report 2020/21

Zimbabwe travelled to Pakistan early in the 
season to play three one-day interna�onals 
(ODIs) and three Twenty20 interna�onals 

(T20I) against the home side.

All the matches were played at Rawalpindi.

Muzarabani was the only Zimbabwe bowler to 
take more than a single wicket in the series, with 

Muzarabani was the most successful bowler, 
taking seven wickets for 136 runs in the three 
matches, apart from his super-over triumph.

The �e caused the super-over regula�on to be 
put into effect, and Zimbabwe won that handsomely, 
as Blessing Muzarabani bowled brilliantly to restrict 
Pakistan to a score of only two, which Zimbabwe 
took only three balls to exceed.

Pakistan won the second match by six wickets, 
but Zimbabwe fought back to �e the third match, 
with Sean Williams scoring 118 not out.

Zimbabwe, short of prac�ce in the T20 format, 
lost all three matches in this series, by margins of six 
wickets, eight wickets and eight wickets.

Pakistan won the ODI series by two victories to 
one and the T20I series three-nil.

Taylor and Williams both had disappoin�ng 
series, and the only Zimbabwe batsman to aggregate 
50 runs in the series was Madhevere, who scored 
103 with a highest of 70 not out.

Taylor and Williams had an excellent ODI series, 
scoring 204 and 107 runs respec�vely in the three 
matches, while Madhevere was the only other 
batsman to score a fi�y.

Zimbabwe put up a brave showing in the ODIs – 
which were part of the ICC Men'd World Cup Super 
League – making Pakistan fight hard for their 26-run 
victory in the first match, thanks to fine ba�ng by 
Brendan Taylor (112) and Wessly Madhevere (55).

four wickets for 72 runs.
Although Zimbabwe had li�le success as far as 
results were concerned, they returned home with 
their first 10 points of the ICC Men's World Cup 
Super League.



ZIMBABWE IN UNITED ARAB EMIRATES (AFGHANISTAN)

Zimbabwe Test Squad: 

Sean Williams (captain) 
Ryan Burl

 Regis Chakabva
 Kevin Kasuza

 Wessly Madhevere 
Wellington Masakadza

 Prince Masvaure
 Brandon Mavuta

 Tarisai Musakanda
 Richmond Mutumbami

 Blessing Muzarabani
 Richard Ngarava
 Victor Nyauchi
 Sikandar Raza

 Donald Tiripano.

Sean Williams (captain)
 Faraz Akram

 Ryan Burl
 Regis Chakabva

 Tinashe Kamunhukamwe
 Wessley Madhevere

 Wellington Masakadza
 Brandon Mavuta

 Tarisai Musakanda
 Richmond Mutumbami

 Blessing Muzarabani
 Richard Ngarava
 Milton Shumba
 Sikandar Raza

 Donald Tiripano.

Zimbabwe T20I Squad: 
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Zimbabwe travelled to Abu Dhabi to play 
Afghanistan in a two-Test series, followed 
by a three-match T20I series.

Williams scored 264 runs in the two matches for 
twice out, an outstanding achievement.

Afghanistan won the T20I matches by 48, 45 and 
47 runs respec�vely, ba�ng first in each match and 
se�ng targets of almost 200 runs each �me.

However, a spin bowler's pitch was prepared for 
the second Test, which be�er suited Afghanistan, 
who also put up an excellent ba�ng performance 
and won the match by six wickets, despite figh�ng 
second innings from Williams (151 not out) and 
Donald Tiripano (95), who put on 187 for the eighth 
wicket, a new Zimbabwe Test record.

All the matches were played in Abu Dhabi.

Zimbabwe's top scorer in the three matches was 
Burl with 81 runs, while Muzarabani took the most 
wickets with six.

Zimbabwe began the tour with a fine victory by 
10 wickets inside two days in the first Test match, the 
highlights being a century from Sean Williams and 
excellent bowling from Blessing Muzarabani and 
Victor Nyauchi.

The Test series was �ed with one victory to each 
team, while Afghanistan won the T20Is by three 
victories to nil.



 

Williams Sean (captain)
 Burl Ryan

 Chakabva Regis
 Chivanga Tanaka

 Ervine Craig
 Jongwe Luke

 Kamunhukamwe Tinashe
 Madhevere Wessley

 Marumani Tadiwanashe
 Masakadza Wellington

 Mufudza Tapiwa
 Muzarabani Blessing

 Ngarava Richard
 Taylor Brendan

 Tiripano Donald.

PAKISTAN IN ZIMBABWE

Zimbabwe T20I Squad:

Taylor Brendan (captain)
 Chakabva Regis
 Chisoro Tendai

 Chivanga Tanaka
 Jongwe Luke

 Kaia Roy
 Kasuza Kevin

 Masakadza Wellington
 Masvaure Prince

 Musakanda Tarisai
 Muzarabani Blessing

 Ngarava Richard
 Nyauchi Victor
 Shumba Milton
 Tiripano Donald

Zimbabwe Test Squad: 
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A strong Pakistan team toured Zimbabwe 
in April and May to play two Test matches 
and three T20Is, all at Harare Sports Club.

Brendan Taylor, who had missed the tour to the 
United Arab Emirates through illness, took over the 
captaincy for the Test series.

No other bowler took more than two wickets.

The depleted Zimbabwe ba�ng only passed 200 
in one innings in the Test matches, but there was 
encouragement from pace bowlers Blessing 
Muzarabani and Richard Ngarava.

Pakistan won both matches by an innings.

It was a great handicap that Sean Williams and 
Craig Ervine both suffered injuries during the T20I 
series and were unable to play in the Test matches.

The T20I series was played first, and won by 
Pakistan, by two victories to one.

In that series, Wessly Madhevere was 
Zimbabwe's most successful batsman with 89 runs at 
29.66, while Jongwe took nine wickets at a 
remarkable return of 8.77 each.

Zimbabwe did very well to win the second match 
in the series by 19 runs, largely due to their fine 
bowling and fielding, with Luke Jongwe taking four 
wickets for 18 runs.

Regis Chakabva was the only Zimbabwe batsman 
to score more than 100 runs or make a fi�y in the 
Test matches, making 146 at an average of 48.66.

Muzarabani was the best bowler with seven 
wickets at a cost of 22.14 runs each.



Richmond Mutumbami (captain)
 Tendai Chatara 

Brighton Chipungu
 Tanaka Chivanga
 Joylord Gumbie

 Luke Jongwe
 Roy Kaia

 Takudzwanashe Kaitano
 Wessley Madhevere

 Timycen Maruma
Brandon Mavuta

Brian Mudzinganyama
 Tapiwa Mufudza

 Carl Mumba
 Dion Myers

 Victor Nyauchi
 Milton Shumba.

SOUTH AFRICA 'A' IN ZIMBABWE

Zimbabwe A One-Day Squad:

Zimbabwe A One-Day Squad:

Chamu Chibhabha (captain)
 Brian Chari 

 Tendai Chatara
 Brighton Chipungu
 Tanaka Chivanga

 Luke Jongwe
 Roy Kaia

 Wessly Madhevere
 Timycen Maruma

 Tadiwanashe Marumani
 Wellington Masakadza

 Tapiwa Mufudza
 Tarisai Musakanda

 Dion Myers
 Ainsley Ndlovu
 Victor Nyauchi

 Milton Shumba.
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The South Africans won the one-day series by 
three victories to one, and the four-day series by one 
victory to nil, with the second match abandoned.

The tourists were too strong in three of the one-
day matches, but Zimbabwe A did an excellent job in 
the third match when they bowled the visitors out 
for 226 and then, despite losing four wickets for 46 
runs, had a match-winning partnership of 124 
unbroken between Chamu Chibhabha (85 not out) 
and Milton Shumba (50 not out) giving them victory 
by 22 runs on the Duckworth-Lewis calcula�on a�er 
rain stopped play.

The hosts were out for 93 in the second innings 
to lose by an innings.

 A strong South Africa A team toured 
Zimbabwe in May and June, under the 
captaincy of Zubayr Hamza, to play a four-

match one-day series and an unofficial Test series of 
two four-day matches.

In the first unofficial Test, Zimbabwe A began 
with a good score of 344, but for South Africa A 
Hamza scored a double-century and they totalled 
over 600.

Two days of play were lost before Zimbabwe 
Cricket received permission to con�nue the match, 
by which �me it was too late and the match was 
regre�ably abandoned as a draw.

In the limited cricket they were able to play in 
this series, Shumba, Dion Myers and Richmond 
Mutumbami scored fi�ies in the first four-dayer, 
while Madhevere took five wickets in the abandoned 
second match.

In the second match, Zimbabwe A put up a fine 
performance on the first day to bowl the South 
Africans out for 282, but then a Government 
lockdown due to the COVID-19 pandemic was 
imposed.

Zimbabwe A's top batsmen in this series were 
Tasiwanashe Marumani with 151 runs (average 
37.75) and Chibhabha with 146 (average 48.66), 
while the top bowlers were Luke Jongwe and Tapiwa 
Mufudza, with five wickets each and respec�ve 
averages of 41.40 and 33.40.



INTERNATIONAL CRICKET – WOMEN



PAKISTAN 
WOMEN IN 
ZIMBABWE

Mary-Anne Musonda (captain), 
Ashley Ndiraya, 

Precious Marange, Pelajia Mujaji, 
Chiedza Dhururu, 

Modester Mupachikwa, 
Kellies Ndlovu, Tasmeen 

Granger, Esther Mbofana, 
Francesca Chipare, 

Loryn Phiri, Nomvelo 
Sibanda, 

Josephine Nkomo, 
Audrey Mazvishaya, 

Christabel Chatonzwa

28 29

Zimbabwe Women's Squad:
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Pakistan Women's tour to Zimbabwe in 
February 2021 was the first interna�onal 
series at home since the outbreak of the 

COVID-19 pandemic.

This series also marked the first �me the 
Zimbabwe senior women's team were ge�ng 
involved in interna�onal cricket since May 2019.  

On top of that, it was the first �me the two sides 
met.

Both Zimbabwe and Pakistan were using the tour 
as part of their prepara�ons for the ICC Women's 
World Cup Qualifier 2021, a 10-team tournament to 
be held later in the year.

Three one-day matches and as many T20I games 
were scheduled for Harare Sports Club, all to be 
played behind closed doors with no spectators 
allowed in the ground as part of the bio-secure 
bubble that was in place.

The first one-dayer was played on 9 February 
2021, and became the first match �e to be streamed 

Pakistan won by 178 runs.
on the Zimbabwe Cricket YouTube channel.

With the teams gearing up for the second match, 
the tour unfortunately had to be cut short a�er 
Pakistan's carrier, Emirates Airlines, suspended 
flights to Zimbabwe.

A�er making 225 for the loss of six wickets in 
their 50 overs, they dismissed a rusty Zimbabwe for 
77 runs in 34.1 overs.

Nomvelo Sibanda and Esther Mbofana took two 
wickets each, while Pellagia Mujaji top-scored for 
Zimbabwe with 16.

The tourists were originally scheduled to depart 
on 21 February.

However, following Emirates Airlines' 
announcement that it had suspended its flight 
opera�ons on the Harare-Dubai route from 13 to 28 
February, both boards decided to end the tour a�er 
the first match with Pakistan Women then leaving on 
9 February.



Nkomo Josephine (captain)
 Chatonzwa Christabel, 

Chipare Francesca, 
Dhururu Chiedza, 
Granger Tasmeen,
 Gwanzura Nyasha, 
Marange Precious, 

Mavhunga Mitchelle, 
Mazvishaya Audrey, 

Mbofana Esther, 
Mujaji Pellagia, 

Mupachikwa Modester,
 Ndhlovu Kellis, 

Phiri Loryn, 
Sibanda Nomvelo

Reserves: Mzembe Chiedza, 
Nire Rumbidzai

SOUTH AFRICA EMERGING WOMEN
IN ZIMBABWE

30 31

Zimbabwe Women Squad:
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On the bowling front, Nomvelo Sibanda's four for 
57 was the best by a Zimbabwean through the 
series, followed by Tasmeen Granger who had best 
figures of three for 26.

Zimbabwe were using the matches against the 
South African side as part of their prepara�ons for 
the ICC Women's World Cup Qualifier 2021 
scheduled for later in the year.

The whole series was successfully held without a 
single COVID-19 posi�ve case being registered.

It was the first �me the ladies got into ac�on 
a�er they were accorded Test and one-day 
interna�onal status by the Interna�onal Cricket 
Council.

Zimbabwe picked a side without six key players, 
captain Mary-Anne Musonda, Ashley Ndiraya, Chipo 
Mugeri and Noma�er Mutasa. 

Josephine Nkomo scored three half-centuries, 70 
and 63 both unbeaten and a 60.

Zimbabwe Women hosted a South Africa 
Emerging Women side for five one-day 
matches in Bulawayo in May 2021.

The matches were played behind closed doors at 
Queens Sports Club, with no spectators allowed in 
the stadium due to COVID-19 protocols. 

The selectors also decided not to bring in the 
experienced pair of Sharne Mayers and Anesu 
Mushangwe who are currently plying their trade in 
South Africa and Australia respec�vely.

Modester Mupachikwa top-scored for Zimbabwe 
in the whole series when she made an unbeaten 95 
in the second one-dayer.

The South African side won all five matches, with 
the hosts only able to bowl them out once.

Christabel Chatonzwa was the only other ba�er 
to make a half century, a 54 in the final match.



DOMESTIC CRICKET – MEN



NATIONAL PREMIER LEAGUE

34 35

The teams par�cipa�ng were as follows: 
Gladiators, Harare Kings, Rainbow, Takashinga (all 
based in Harare), Amakhosi, Queens Sports Club 
(Bulawayo), Easterns (Mutare), Midwest (Kwekwe) 

The domes�c cricket season in Zimbabwe 
for 2020/21 began with the Na�onal 
Premier League (NPL) one-day 

compe��on, which was held between 4 October and 
1 November.

Nine club sides from throughout Zimbabwe 
par�cipated and nine rounds were played, as the 
teams played each other once, eight 45-over 
matches per side, with each team in turn having a 
bye in one round.

and Great Zimbabwe Patriots (Masvingo).
The most successful teams were Takashinga and 

Midwest, who both won six matches and lost two, 
but Takashinga were adjudged winners of the 
compe��on due to their victory in the head-to-head 
encounter between the two teams in the very first 
round of the compe��on.

Tarisai Musakanda of Midwest was the most 
successful batsman of the tournament, scoring 307 
runs at an average of 38.38 – he also recorded the 
highest individual score of 142.

Brian Mudzinganyama (Rainbow, 264), Kevin 
Kasuza (Easterns, 258), Roy Kaia (Takashinga, 241), 
Tony Munyonga (Gladiators, 219) and William 

Special men�on can be made of Nick Welch, who 
played three matches for Harare Kings and scored 
184 runs at an average of 92.00, including an innings 
of 132 not out.

The most successful bowler was Malcom 
Chikuwa of Gladiators, who took 23 wickets at an 
average of 8.86 – he also recorded the best bowling 
analysis of the tournament, seven wickets for 16 
runs in an innings.

Other bowlers to take 20 or more wickets were 
Tanatswa Bechani (Queens, 22), and Tapiwa Mufudza 
and Roy Kaia, both of Takashinga and both with 20 

Mashinge (Great Zimbabwe, 206) also scored more 
than 200 runs.

wickets.
Kaia was certainly the best all-round player of the 

tournament, with 241 runs and 20 wickets; he also 
took seven catches, the most for any ou�ielder.

Cunningham Ncube of Amakhosi topped the 
wicketkeepers' list, with 14 catches and one 
stumping; no other wicketkeeper managed 10.

The na�onal players selected for the tour to 
Pakistan could play only in the first one or two 
rounds of the tournament. 

The NPL tournament was most successful in 
introducing many new young cricketers to 
compe��ve club cricket with many of the top players 
in the country, and brought to light new talent.
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LOGAN CUP

36 37

Takudzwanashe Kaitano of Rhinos also passed 
300, scoring 302 at 43.14 each, while Charles Kunje 
(Rhinos, 277), PJ Moor (Tuskers, 274), Joylord 
Gumbie (Mountaineers, 265) and Remembrance 
Nyathi (Rhinos, 263) all passed 250 in the four 
matches.

Tendai Chisoro of Rocks was the most successful 
bowler of the campaign, taking 18 wickets at an 
average of 17.77.

been badly weakened by re�rements and transfers 
of several top players, and the only points they 
gleaned came from a draw with Tuskers against 
three defeats.

Two of their transfers to Rocks, the brothers Roy 
and Innocent Kaia, were the top run-scorers of the 
Logan Cup season, with 374 runs at an average of 
62.33 and 368 at 61.33 respec�vely.

Only four centuries were scored in the 10 
matches, the highest being 164 by Regis Chakabva 
for Eagles against Tuskers.

The veteran off-spinner John Nyumbu of Tuskers 
took 16 wickets at 23.00 each, while other bowlers 
with 12 or more wickets were Brandon Mavuta 
(Rhinos, 14), Tafara Chingwara (Rhinos, 13) and Roy 
Kaia with 12 at a fine average of 15.50.

As in the Na�onal Premier League club 
compe��on, therefore, Roy Kaia was the most 
successful all-round player, with 374 runs and 12 
wickets.

Among the wicket-keepers, Tafadzwa Tsiga of 
Rocks remarkably dismissed 19 batsmen (18 caught 
and one stumped) in only three matches in which he 
played; the next best was Nyasha Mayavo of Rhinos 
with 10 vic�ms (8 caught, 2 stumped) in his two 
matches.

Among the ou�ielders, Wessly Madhevere 
topped the list with seven catches in three matches, 
while Tony Munyonga (Mountaineers) and John 
Nyumbu took six each.

Several young players made an impact for the 
first �me in the Logan Cup this year: Dion Myers 
scored 116 for Mountaineers against Rhinos; Tanaka 
Chivanga took 10 wickets for Eagles and impressed 
with his pace; while Brad Evans (Eagles, 131 runs and 
11 wickets) and André Odendaal (Rocks, 147 runs 
and 10 wickets) impressed as all-rounders.

Kaia was also the only bowler to take as many as 
six wickets in an innings during the tournament, 
which he did with figures of six for 34 for Rocks 
against Rhinos.

previous existence, created a major surprise by 
winning the Logan Cup for the first �me – they had 
been greatly strengthened by the return of their 
former players, mainly from Mountaineers, and 
several other talented players had been assigned to 
them to ensure that they were a thoroughly 
compe��ve team this �me.

The match between Rhinos and Mountaineers 
was perhaps the most exci�ng of the compe��on, as 
Rhinos, set 371 to win in the final innings, made 
these runs with their last pair together to win by one 
wicket.

It was a sad season for Mountaineers, the 
powerhouse of the last few seasons, for they had 

They actually won all their four matches outright, 
while no other team was able to win more than two 
(Eagles).

Rhinos won one match, but Tuskers and 
Mountaineers failed to win a match.

Rocks, who had been perennial losers in their 

The Logan Cup, originally planned to give 
the five par�cipa�ng teams eight matches 
each, fell vic�m to the second wave of the 

COVID-19 pandemic and the consequent lockdown, 
but was eventually completed in a shortened format, 
with each team playing only four matches instead.

The usual four Logan Cup teams – Eagles (based 
in Harare), Tuskers (Bulawayo), Mountaineers 
(Mutare) and Rhinos (Kwekwe) – par�cipated, with 
the Masvingo-based Southern Rocks bouncing back 
as the fi�h first-class side for the first �me since the 
2013/14 season.

Two rounds of the compe��on were played in 
December, but, due to the lockdown in the New 
Year, the compe��on could not be resumed un�l 18 
March, by which �me it was necessary to reduce the 
programme, which was completed at the beginning 
of April.
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PRO50 
CHAMPIONSHIP
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Due to the lockdown restric�ons, the 
Pro50 Championship, like the Logan Cup, 
had to be reduced to four matches per 

team, with a final and third-place playoff, between 
18 and 28 April 2021.

As a result Rocks and Rhinos contested the final, 

The compe��on was very close, as three teams 
all finished their four-match programmes with three 
victories and one defeat, and had to be separated by 
net run rate, coming out in the following order: 
Rocks, Rhinos and Tuskers.

The same five teams par�cipated: Eagles, 
Tuskers, Mountaineers, Rhinos and Southern Rocks, 
and the matches were all played on the Old 
Hararians and Takashinga grounds in Harare.

and Tuskers and Eagles the third-place playoff, which 
was won by Tuskers.

This was par�cularly impressive since only days 
previously they had finished bo�om in the Domes�c 
T20 Compe��on, losing all their four matches.

Special men�on may also be made of Carl 

Brad Evans scored the only other century of the 
tournament, a remarkable 109 off 92 balls, with five 
sixes and 11 fours, for Eagles against Mountaineers.

Mountaineers, missing many of their top players 
of recent years, had the unfortunate experience of 
losing all their four matches.

Kaitano finished as the most successful batsman 
of the tournament, scoring 247 runs at an average of 
49.40, followed by Brian Chari of Tuskers with 205 at 
51.25.

The final, played at Takashinga Sports Club, saw 
Rhinos defeat Rocks by 47 runs, thanks largely to a 
fine century from Takudzwanashe Kaitano – this was 
the first �me Rhinos have won any trophy since they 
first played in 2009/10.

The best bowling average for a regular bowler 
was 10.55 (nine wickets) by Victor Nyauchi of 
Mountaineers.

Mumba, who scored 158 runs in four innings for 
Rhinos without being dismissed, at a remarkable 
scoring rate of 147.66.

He was followed by Brandon Mavuta of Rhinos, 
with 10 wickets at 20 each, while the most 
economical regular bowler was Roy Kaia of Rocks, 
with six wickets at 12.00 each and an economy rate 
of 2.76.

Mumba had perhaps the best all-round record 
with his 158 runs and also seven wickets.

The wicket-keeping list was headed by Joylord 
Gumbie of Mountaineers (8 catches) and Clive 
Madande of Tuskers (7 catches and a stumping), 
while Kaitano held the most catches for an ou�ielder 
with five.

The most successful bowler was John Nyumbu, 
who took 11 wickets for Tuskers at an average of 
11.90 and an economy rate of only 3.26.
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DOMESTIC T20 
COMPETITION
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The Domes�c T20 Compe��on was played 
within the week of 10 to 16 April 2021, at 
the Harare Sports Club and Old Hararians 

Sports Club grounds in Harare, between the five 
provincial teams.

At the end of this, Tuskers and Eagles finished top 
of the log, with three victories and one defeat each – 

Each team played the others once, four matches 
in total.

Tuskers had much the be�er net run rate.

Their match-winners were the experienced 
ba�ng pair of Craig Ervine and Sean Williams, who 
both scored fi�ies, and the le�-arm spinner Ainsley 
Ndlovu, who took five wickets for only 20 runs.

In the third-place playoff on the same ground, 
Southern Rocks beat Mountaineers by the narrow 
margin of two wickets.

Ervine was the most successful batsman of the 
tournament, scoring 250 runs in the five matches at 
an average of 62.50, including an innings of 120 not 
out against Mountaineers.

They contested the final at Old Hararians on 16 
April, and this was won by Tuskers by 69 runs.

Taylor also played a remarkable innings of 140 
not out against Eagles, the highest innings of the 
tournament, but even more remarkably Eagles won 
the match by six wickets.

Tadiwanashe Marumani (Rocks, 228 runs at 
57.00) and Brendan Taylor (Rhinos, 205 at 68.33) 
also scored 200-plus runs.

Only Donald Tiripano of Mountaineers reached 
10 wickets in the tournament – he took 11 at an 

Marumani was perhaps the most exci�ng new 
talent to emerge from this tournament with his 
brilliant a�acking ba�ng, and his success led to his 
selec�on for the na�onal team in their T20I series 
against Pakistan.

average of 12.72.

The top fielder of the tournament was Brian 
Chari, the Tuskers captain, who took four, more than 
any of the wicket-keepers, of whom Clive Madande 
(Tuskers) and Richmond Mutumbami (Rocks) 
dismissed three batsmen each.

The next-best bowlers were Ndlovu with eight 
wickets and Tapiwa Mufudza of Eagles with seven.

Two bowlers took five wickets in an innings 
during the tournament: Ndlovu in the final as 
men�oned, and the other Tuskers le�-arm spinner 
Milton Shumba, who took five for 18 in the group 
match against Eagles.
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DOMESTIC CRICKET – WOMEN
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Mountaineers only finished tops thanks to a 
be�er net run rate.

The tournament showcased a good mixture of 
established interna�onal players do�ed across the 
provinces with new talent, some of whom had never 
played a game of cricket outside school level.

Eagles won three and lost as many matches, 
while bo�om-placed Tuskers found success once, 
suffering reversals in the other matches.

In the final played at Takashinga Cricket Club, 
Francesca Chipare took five for 29 to dismiss Rhinos 
for 210. 

Mountaineers and Rhinos were the standout 
teams as they ended the round-robin stage with 
iden�cal numbers of wins and losses. 

Four teams, Eagles Women, Mountaineers 
Women, Rhinos Women and Tuskers 
Women, took part in the newly established 

Fi�y50 Challenge inter-provincial one-day 
compe��on.

Chipare was named bowler of the tournament, 
for her haul of 19 wickets at an average of 8.84.

Rhinos captain Josephine Nkomo scooped the 
ba�er and player of the tournament accolades. 

The round-robin format with a one-off final took 
place across the country, with matches in Harare, 
Bulawayo, Mutare and Kwekwe. 

It ran from 23 October to 6 December 2020.

Mountaineers aggressively chased down the total 
to win by 59 runs via the DLS method, to be crowned 
the inaugural champions of the compe��on.

Nkomo scored 294 runs, with a highest score of 
85 and an average of 98.00. 

She scored a total of 280 runs in the tournament 
at an average of 70.

The important takeaway from the tournament is 
the experience many of the young players got, which 
will go a long way towards expanding the player base 
going forward.

In the wickets column, she had 15 at 10.93 with a 
best of six wickets for 21 runs.

A men�on must be made of Eagles captain 
Modester Mupachikwa, whose unbeaten 104 was 
the only century of the tournament. 

Other ba�ers to score at least 200 runs were 
Chipo Mugeri-Tiripano (264 at 37.71) and Mary-
Anne Musonda (252 at 42.00).

Loryn Phiri took 15 wickets at 11.33 with a best 
of five for 22.

The tournament also had its first hat-trick, with 
Esther Mbofana achieving the feat for Eagles against 
Tuskers in Kwekwe. 

She then recorded the best figures of eight for 21 
in the Fi�y50 Challenge.
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It ran from 24 October to 5 December 2021.
It was a very compe��ve tournament and while 

Eagles had comfortably made it to the final, the 
other three all s�ll had a chance of booking the 
other �cket, going into the concluding round of the 
round-robin stage.

They achieved it with just under six overs to 
spare.

The tournament was held in a round-robin 
format of six rounds, followed by a one-off final 
between the top two sides. 

Most impressive of the chasing pack were 
Mountaineers, who lost their first three matches, but 
bounced back to within an inch of qualifica�on.

Zimbabwe Cricket unveiled the Women's 
T20 Cup, an inter-provincial compe��on 
which saw four sides, Eagles Women, 

Mountaineers Women, Rhinos Women and Tuskers 
Women, ba�le it out for supremacy.

Ul�mately, it was Tuskers who made it to the final 
at Takashinga Sports Club.

Eagles were the deserved winners, with some 
�ght bowling and aggressive ba�ng, captain 
Modester Mupachikwa blas�ng 47 from 42 balls, 
chasing down a modest 79. 

Musonda had the best score in an innings, 
scoring an unbeaten 64 on the opening day against 
Mountaineers.

She took nine wickets at an average of 7.89. 

Eagles all-rounder Precious Marange returned 
two for six in the final, her best figures for the 
compe��on, as she was named bowler of 
tournament. 

Tuskers pair Tasmeen Granger and Nomvelo 
Sibanda as well as Francesca Chipare of 
Mountaineers had seven wickets each. 

Mupachikwa was player of the final and ba�er of 
the tournament with 241 runs at an average of 
80.33. 

She was just two runs ahead of player of the 
tournament Mary-Anne Musonda from Rhinos, who 
made 239 at an average 59.75. 
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Independent auditor’s report

To the members of the Zimbabwe Cricket

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate financial
position of Zimbabwe Cricket (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) as at 31 December 2020, and  its consolidated and
separate financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

What we have audited
Zimbabwe Cricket‟s consolidated and separate financial statements set out on pages 3 to 18 comprise:

●        the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 December 2020;
●        the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended;
●        the consolidated and separate statements of changes in reserves for the year then ended;
●       the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and
●        the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor‟s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements
in Zimbabwe. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and other ethical requirements applicable to
performing audits of financial statements in Zimbabwe. 

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document titled “Zimbabwe
Cricket Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020”. The other information does not include the consolidated or the
separate financial statements and our auditor‟s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and separate financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance with
[International Financial Reporting Standards. and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and the Company‟s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor‟s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

●       Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 



Independent auditor’s report (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements (continued)

●        Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group‟s and the Company‟s internal control. 

●       Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors. 

●        Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors‟ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group‟s and the Company‟s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor‟s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor‟s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group and / or Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

●        Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

●        Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Clive K. Mukondiwa
Registered Public Auditor

Partner for and on behalf of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe)
Public Accountants and Auditors Board, Public Auditor Registration Number 0439
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Zimbabwe, Public Practice Certificate Number 253168

13 July 2021

Harare
Zimbabwe



ZIMBABWE CRICKET

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

ASSETS 2020 2019 2020 2019

Notes US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Non-current assets

Property and equipment 4
Investment in subsidiaries 5
Right of use assets 6

Total non-current assets    2 369 258    3 578 450    2 369 258    3 592 050

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 7     782 640    2 065 661     782 640    2 065 661
Cash and cash equivalents 8     13 192     95 441     13 192     95 441

Total current assets     795 832    2 161 102     795 832    2 161 102

TOTAL ASSETS    3 165 090    5 739 552    3 165 090    5 753 152

EQUITY

Revaluation reserve    3 342 237    3 295 037    3 295 037    3 295 037
Accumulated (deficits)/surpluses (   1 773 796) (    1 087) (   1 726 596)     12 512

Total equity    1 568 441    3 293 950    1 568 441    3 307 549

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Lease liability 11     151 647     216 165     151 647     216 165

Total non-current liabilities     151 647     216 165     151 647     216 165

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 9    1 229 633    1 818 512    1 229 633    1 818 512
Provisions 10     54 175     320 926     54 175     320 926
Lease liability 11     161 195     90 000     161 195     90 000

Total current liabilities    1 445 003    2 229 438    1 445 003    2 229 438

Total liabilities    1 596 649    2 445 603    1 596 649    2 445 603

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    3 165 090    5 739 552    3 165 090    5 753 152

The above statements of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

)
)
) DIRECTORS
)
)

Group Organisation

   2 232 645    3 373 429    1 532 645    2 707 029
- -     700 000     680 000

    136 613     205 021     136 613     205 021
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ZIMBABWE CRICKET

CONSOLIDATED  AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019 2020 2019
Note US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Revenue 12    5 520 442    11 905 334    5 520 442    11 905 334

Operating costs
International cricket 13 (   1 218 449) (   1 074 007) (   1 218 449) (   1 074 007)
Domestic cricket 14 (   1 332 304) (   1 100 108) (   1 332 304) (   1 100 108)

Central administration 15 (    434 704) (    630 643) (    434 704) (    630 643)
Human resources 16 (   2 679 710) (   3 085 888) (   2 679 710) (   3 085 888)
Depreciation and impairment 18 (   1 288 825) (   1 297 772) (   1 275 225) (   1 284 172)

Total operating costs (   6 953 991) (   7 188 417) (   6 940 391) (   7 174 817)

Operating (deficit)/surplus (   1 433 549)    4 716 917 (   1 419 949)    4 730 517

 Foreign exchange gain     220 123    13 016 616     220 123    13 016 616

Finance costs 17 (    25 940) (    257 054) (    25 940) (    257 054)

Share of profit of investments in subsidiaries accounted for using
the equity method    5 - -     20 000 - 

(Deficit)/surplus for the year (   1 239 366)    17 476 479 (   1 205 766)    17 490 079

Other comprehensive income
Revaluation surplus on land and buildings     47 200 - - - 

Total comprehensive income (   1 192 166)    17 476 479 (   1 205 766)    17 490 079

The above statements of income and expenditure should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

OrganisationGroup
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ZIMBABWE CRICKET

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Revaluation Accumulated 
reserve deficit Total

Group US$ US$ US$ 

Year ended 31 December 2019

Balance as at 1 January 2019    3 295 037 (   17 477 566) (   14 182 531)
Total comprehensive income:
Surplus for the year -    17 476 479    17 490 080

Balance as at 31 December 2019, as previously stated    3 295 037 (    1 087)    3 307 549

Prior period adjustment      20 - (    533 342) (    533 342)

Restated balance as at 31 December 2019    3 295 037 (    534 430)    2 774 207

Year ended 31 December 2020
Balance as at 1 January 2020    3 295 037 (    534 430)    2 774 207

Deficit for the year - (   1 239 366) (   1 239 366)

Other comprehensive income     47 200 -     47 200

Balance as at 31 December 2020    3 342 237 (   1 773 795)    1 582 041

Organisation

Year ended 31 December 2019

Balance as at 1 January 2019    3 295 037 (   17 477 568) (   14 182 531)
Total comprehensive income:
Surplus for the year -    17 490 080    17 490 080

Balance as at 31 December 2019, as previously stated    3 295 037     12 512    3 307 549

Prior period adjustment      20 - (    533 342) (    533 342)

Restated balance as at 31 December 2019    3 295 037 (    520 830)    2 774 207

Year ended 31 December 2020

Balance as at 1 January 2020    3 295 037 (    520 830)    2 774 207

Deficit for the year - (   1 205 766) (   1 205 766)

Balance as at 31 December 2020    3 295 037 (   1 726 596)    1 568 441

The above statements of changes in reserves should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ZIMBABWE CRICKET

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019 2020 2019
Note US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Cashflows from operating activities

(Deficit)/surplus for the year (   1 239 366)    17 476 479 (   1 205 766)    17 490 079
Adjustments  for:
Depreciation of property and equipment    4    1 220 416    1 190 745    1 206 816    1 177 145

Impairment of intangible asset    18 -                     38 687 -                        38 687
Depreciation on right of use asset    18     68 408     68 340     68 408     68 340
Share of profit of investments in subsidiaries accounted for using
the equity method - - (    20 000) - 
 Foreign exchange gains (    220 123) (   13 016 616) (    220 123) (   13 016 616)
Leave pay provision movement (    24 563) - (    24 563) - 

Profit from disposal of motor vehicle - (    1 000) - (    1 000)
Bad debts written off -     19 904 -     19 904

Finance costs    17     25 940     257 054     25 940     257 054
Prior period error adjustment    20 (    533 342) (    533 342)

(    702 630)    6 033 592 (    702 630)    6 033 592
Changes in working capital

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables    1 283 021 (   1 996 427)    1 283 021 (   1 996 427)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (    588 879)     329 612 (    588 879)     329 612

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (    8 488)    4 366 778 (    8 488)    4 366 778

Cashflows from investing activities

Purchase of equipment (    32 432) (    14 961) (    32 432) (    14 961)
Purchase of intangible asset - (    6 973) - (    6 973)
Proceeds from disposal of property -     1 000 -     1 000

Net cash used in investing activities (    32 432) (    20 934) (    32 432) (    20 934)

Cashflows from financing activities
Interest paid (    22 066) (    224 250) (    22 066) (    224 250)
Lease liability repayments (    19 263) - (    19 263) - 
Repayments of borrowings - (   4 372 863) - (   4 372 863)

Net cash used in financing activities (    41 329) (   4 597 113) (    41 329) (   4 597 113)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents for the year (    82 249) (    251 269) (    82 249) (    251 269)

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the year     95 441     346 709     95 441     346 709

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year    9     13 192     95 440     13 192     95 440

The above statements of cashflow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Group Organisation
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ZIMBABWE CRICKET

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Zimbabwe Cricket (the "Organisation") and its subsidiaries, (together "the Group") actively promotes and develops the playing and
the benefit of all Zimbabweans, without discrimination of any kind. Its aim is to instil and sustain national pride in Zimbabwean Cricket by
being a successful performer in the sports and recreation industry.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

2.1 Basis of preparation and presentation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and interpretations 
issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee ("IFRS IC") applicable to organisations reporting under IFRS. . The financial statements are
prepared under the historical cost convention unless otherwise stated.

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

a) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective for the first time for 31 December 2020 year ends that are relevant to the
Group:

Executive summary

Group:
Standard/interpretation Effective date Executive summary

These amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 and consequential amendments to other IFRSs: 
·   use a consistent definition of materiality through IFRSs and the Conceptual
    Framework for Financial Reporting; 

clarify the explanation of the definition of material; and
incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial information. 

The amended definition is:
“Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific
reporting entity.”

relief in the form of an optional exemption from assessing whether a rent concession related to
COVID-19 is a lease modification, provided that the concession meets certain conditions.
Lessees can elect to account for qualifying rent concessions in the same way as they would if
they were not lease modifications. In may cases, this will result in accounting  for the concession
as a variable lease payment.

The International Accounting Standard Board (the "IASB") provided lessees (but not lessors) with

The phase 2  amendments address issues that arise from the implementation of the reform of
an interest rate benchmark, including the replacement of one benchmark with an alternative
one.

This amendment revises the definition of a business. According to feedback received by the
IASB, application of the current guidance is commonly thought to be too complex and it results in
too many transactions qualifying as business combinations. More acquisitions are likely to be
accounted for as asset acquisitions.

To be considered a business, an acquisition would have to include an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The new guidance
provides a framework to evaluate when an input and a substantive process are present
(including for early stage companies that have not generated outputs). To be a business without
outputs, there will now need to be an organised workforce.

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective for 31 December 2020 year ends that are not relevant to the

Number Effective date

reform (Phase 2)

Amendment to 1 January 2020
International Accounting
Standard ("IAS")1,
„Presentation of financial ·   
statements‟ and IAS 8, ·   
„Accounting policies,
changes in accounting
estimates and errors‟ on
the definition of material. 

-19 Related Rent
Concessions Amendment

early adoption
is permitted

IFRS 16, 'Leases'  COVID 1 June 2020

1 January 2020
Financial Instruments' IAS
39 Financial Instruments : 
Recognition and
Measurement ' IFRS 7, '
Financial Instruments:
Disclosures', IFRS 4,
'Insurance Contracts' and
IFRS 16, Leases' interest
rate benchmark ("IBOR")

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 3, 1 January 2020
Business combinations'

Definition of a business

Amendment to IFRS 3, The Board has updated IFRS 3, 'Business combinations' to refer to the 2018 conceptual
Business combinations' framework for Financial Reporting, in order to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability

in a business combination.

In addition, the Board added a new exception in IFRS 3 for liabilities and contingent liabilities.
The exception specifies that, for some types of liabilities and contingent liabilities, an entity
applying IFRS 3 should instead refer to IAS 37, 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets,' or IFRIC 21, 'Levies' rather than the 2018 Conceptual Framework.

The Board has also clarified that the acquirer should not recognise contingent assets, as
defined in IAS 37,at the acquisition date.

1 January 2022
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ZIMBABWE CRICKET

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 (CONTINUED)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective for 31 December 2020 year ends that are not relevant to the
Group (continued)
Standard/interpretation Effective date Executive summary

There are no other standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective that are likely to have a material impact on the Group.

IFRS 17, 'Insurance after '1 January In response to some of the concerns and challenges raised, the Board developed targeted
contracts' Amendments 2023 amendments and several proposed clarifications intended to ease implementations of IFRS 17,

simplify some requirements of the standards and ease transition. The amendments are not
intended to change the fundamental principles of the standard or unduly disrupt implementation
already underway. 

IFRS 17,'Insurance 1 January 2023 The IASB issued IFRS17, 'Insurance contracts' and thereby started a new epoch of accounting
contracts' for insurers. Whereas the current standard, IFRS 4, allows insurers to use their local GAAP,

Early IFRS 17, defines clear and consistent rules that will significantly increase the comparability of
application is financial statements. For insurers, the  transition to IFRS 17 will have an impact on financial
permitted for statements and on key performance indicators
entities that
apply IFRS  9, Under IFRS 17, the general model requires entities to measure an insurance contract at initial
Financial recognition at the total of the fulfilment cashflows (comprising the estimate future cashflows, an
Instruments ' adjustment to reflect the time value of money and an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial
and IFRS 15, risk) and the contractual service margin. The fulfilment cashflows are remeasured on a current
Revenue from basis each reporting period. The unearned profit (contractual service margin) is recognised over
Contracts with the coverage period.

Customers' at
or before the Aside from this general model, the standard provides, as a simplification, the premium
date of initial allocation approach. This simplified approach is applicable for certain types of contract, including
application of those with the a coverage period of one year or less.
IFRS 17.

For insurance contracts with direct participation features, the variable fee approach applies. The
variable fee approach is a variation on the general model. When applying the variable fee
approach , the entity's share of the fair value changes of the underlying items is included in the
contractual service margin. Consequently, the fair value changes are not recognised in the profit
or loss  in the period which they occur but over the remaining life of the contract.

Amendment to IAS 1, 1 January 2022 The amendment clarifies that liabilities are classified as either current or non-current depending
Presentation of financial on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification in unaffected by
Statements' on classification expectations of the entity or events after the reporting date (for example the receipt of a waiver or
of liabilities as current or a reach of covenant).
non-current.

Amendments to IAS 16 1 January 2022 The amendment to IAS 16, prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of property,
property, plant and plant and equipment any proceeds received from selling items produced while the entity is
equipment' on proceeds preparing the asset for it's intended use ( for example, the proceeds from selling samples

before Intended use produced when testing a machine to see if it is functioning properly) The proceeds from selling
such items, together  with the costs of producing them are recognised in profit or loss.

Amendment to IAS 37 1 January 2022 The amendment clarifies which costs an entity includes in assessing  whether a contract will be
Provisions, contingent loss-making. This assessment is made by considering unavoidable costs, which are the lower
liabilities and contingent of the net cost of exiting the contract and the costs to fulfil the contract. The amendment clarifies
assets ' on onerous the meaning of 'costs to fulfil contract' Under the amendment, costs to fulfil a contract include
contracts- cost - cost of incremental costs and the allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling the contract.
fulfilling a contract

Annual improvements 1 January 2022 These amendments include minor changes to :
 arising from the 2018 - ●   IFRS 1, 'First time adoption of IFRS has been amended for a subsidiary  that becomes a

2020 reporting cycle first-time adopter after its parent. The  subsidiary may elect to measure cumulative translation
differences for foreign    operations using the amounts reported by the parent at the date of the
parent's transition to IFRS.

●   IFRS 9, Financial Instruments has been amended to include only those costs or fees paid
 between the borrower and the lender in the calculation of "the 10% test" for derecognition of a

financial liability. Fees paid to third  parties are excluded from this calculation.

●   IFRS 16, 'Leases ' amendment  to the illustrative Example 13 that accompanies  IFRS 16 to
remove the illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements. The
amendment intends to remove any potential confusion about the treatment of lease incentives 

●   IAS 41, 'Agriculture ' has been amended  to align the requirements for measuring their fair
value  with those of IFRS  13. The amendment removes the requirement for entities to exclude
cash flows for taxation when measuring fair value
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ZIMBABWE CRICKET

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 (CONTINUED)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Going concern
Based on the review of the Group‟s plans, the Directors believe that the Group will have sufficient resources to continue to trade as a going
concern for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements and accordingly, the financial statements have
been prepared on the going concern basis. The continued spread of the Covid-19 and its continued negative impact on businesses worldwide
could adversely impact our operations and workforce, including our marketing, ability to collect revenues and to source additional funding,
which in turn could have an adverse impact on our activities, financial condition and results of operations. This scenario is anticipated to not
have an adverse impact on the going concern of the Group.

2.3 Consolidation

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

The  Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the  Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest‟s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree‟s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer‟s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit
or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 either in profit or loss
or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of
consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated. When necessary amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group‟s accounting policies. The
Group has no non-controlling interest. The Group has the following property owning subsidiaries which are 100% owned:
- Brosely investments (Private) Limited; and
- Secody investments (Private) Limited

2.4 Foreign currency translation

a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
Organisation operates ( "the functional currency"). The financial statements are presented in United States of America dollars ("US$"), which is 
the Organisation's functional and presentation currency. 

b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of income and expenditure.

2.5 Property, vehicles and equipment
Land and buildings are shown at revalued amounts, based on periodic valuations performed by management or independent property valuers,
less subsequent depreciation for buildings. All other property, vehicles and equipment are stated at cost less depreciation. Cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset‟s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to the reserves account. Decreases that offset
previous increases of the same asset are charged against the reserves account; all other decreases are charged to the statement of income
and expenditure.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost or revalued amounts to
their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Leasehold property improvements 10 years
Motor vehicles 10 years
Computer, office equipment and furniture 3 - 10 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Property, vehicles and equipment (continued)
An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses from disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the income
statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in other reserves are transferred to accumulated funds.

An independent valuation of the Group‟s land and buildings was performed at 31 December 2020, to determine the fair value of the investment
property. No significant factors were noted between 31 March 2019. The following table analyses land and buildings carried at revalued
amount. The different levels have been defined as follows:
Level 1Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

Level 3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

2.6 Financial assets

2.6.1 Classification
The Group only holds financial assets measured at amortised cost, which comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers raised in the ordinary course of business. If collection of the amount is expected in one
year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. Other receivables generally arise from
transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group. Collateral is not normally obtained. 

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment. Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectable are written off by reducing the carrying
amount directly. 

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit loss allowance
for all trade receivables. The loss allowances for trade receivables are based on assumptions about risk of defau latnd expected loss rates.
The entity uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the entity‟s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. 

Receivables for which an impairment allowance was recognised are written off against the allowance, when there is no expectation of
recovering additional cash. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  within
administrative expenses. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against administrative expenses. This category
has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit and loss at inception. A financial
asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management. Assets
in this category are classified as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months of the

statement of financial position date. investments are classified in this category as they are held for short periods for profit taking.

2.6.2 Recognition and measurement
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets at fair value through the profit and loss are initially recognized at fair value and transaction costs are
expensed in the statement of income and expenditure. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Loans and
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

2.7 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

2.8 Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that an asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  A
financial asset is impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more loss events that occurred  after
initial recognition of the asset and prior to the reporting date (loss event) and that loss event has had an impact on the future cash flows of the
financial asset that can be reliably estimated.

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the
Group about the following loss events:
a)   Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
b)   A breach of contract such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
c)   It becomes evident that the borrower will enter  bankruptcy or financial re-Group;
d)   The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulty.
(e)  Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows  from a portfolio of financial assets since
the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio,
including:
(i) adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; and
(ii) national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets (continued)
For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset‟s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset‟s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of income and
expenditure. If a loan or held to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount  rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument‟s fair value using an observable market price.

2.9 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

2.10 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers raised in the ordinary course of business. If collection of the amount is expected in one year
or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. Other receivables generally arise from
transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group. Collateral is not normally obtained. 

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for expected credit losses. Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectable are written off by reducing the
carrying amount directly. 

2.11 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the course of business from suppliers. Trade payable
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less or in the normal cycle of the business if longer. If not they are
presented as non current liabilities. Accounts payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method.

2.12 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely than not that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for

future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.13 Revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue at an amount that reflects the consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for goods or services
transferred to a customer. The Group generates all its revenues at a point in time and revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in the different contracts with customers and net of value-added tax, rebates and discounts.

The specific accounting policies for the Group‟s main types of revenue are explained below:

International Cricket Council Grant
Income from International Cricket Council is recognised when the following conditions are satisfied: When Zimbabwe Cricket obtains control of
the grant or the right to receive it, when it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the grant will flow to the Group and the amount of
the grant can be measured reliably. Since Zimbabwe Cricket is on controlled funding from International Cricket Council, control of the grant is
obtained only when the cash has been received. Accordingly, revenue was recognised on receipt basis in 2020.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when control of the goods has transferred from the Group to the customer, usually on delivery of
the goods to the destination specified by the customer. Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in the different contracts
with customers and net of value-added tax, rebates and discounts.

Rental income
Rental income arising from operating leases on retail properties is accounted for on a straight line basis over the lease terms, net of value
added tax. 

2.14 Taxation
No provision is made for income tax as Zimbabwe Cricket is exempt from tax.

2.15 Employee benefits
The Group and its employees contribute to the National Social Security Authority (Chapter 17:04) Scheme. This is a social security scheme
which was promulgated under the National Social Security Act 1989. The Group's obligations under the scheme are limited to specific
contributions as legislated from time to time.

2.16 Leases
The Group leases grounds where it conducts its games. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 year to 20 years, but may have
extension options.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:
 - fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
 - variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date



12
ZIMBABWE CRICKET

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 (CONTINUED)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Leases (continued)
 - amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees
 - the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and
 - payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that option. 

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the
case for leases in the Group, the Group‟s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the Group would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:
 - where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
 financing conditions since third party financing was received
- uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which does not have
recent third party financing, and
 - makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, currency and security. 

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease
liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and
adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 

Right of use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
 - the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
 - any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
 - any initial direct costs, and
 - restoration costs. 

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset‟s useful life. While the
Group revalues its property and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the right of use assets held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line
basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT
equipment and small items of office furniture.

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property leases. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group‟s operations. The majority of extension and termination options held  are exercisable only by the Group
and not by the respective lessor.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group‟s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates, credit risk and liquidity
risks.

(a) Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposure. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognized assets and liabilities. At the year end the Group had no material exposure to foreign exchange risk.

(b) Market risk

i) Price risk
Price risk is the risk of a potential loss arising from changes in the market price of a financial instrument as a result of fluctuations in the market
price. The Group had no financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss. 

ii) Interest risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the market
interest rates. The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's lease liabilities which carried
an interest rate of 12% at 31 December 2020 (2019: 12%). The effects of the interest rate movement were not significant at year end.

(c) Credit  risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss to the other party by failing to discharge the contract.
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions. Only approved financial institutions with
sound capital bases are utilized to invest surplus funds.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial assets is a follows: Group Organisation
2020 2020
US$ US$

Rating
A+     5 455     5 455
BBB+     1 544     1 544
Unrated      147      147

    7 146     7 146
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may fail to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Group identifies this risk through periodic
liquidity gap

Maturity profile Less than Over 
6 months 6 - 12months 12 months Total

Group and Company US$ US$ US$ US$

As at 31 December 2020

Assets
Trade receivables (excluding prepayments)    1 315 958 - -    1 315 958
Cash and cash equivalents     13 192 - -     13 192

Total assets    1 329 150 - -    1 329 150

Liabilities
Trade payables (   1 445 001) - - (   1 445 001)

Total liabilities (   1 445 001) - - (   1 445 001)

Liquidity position (    115 851) - - (    115 851)

Cumulative liquidity gap (  115 851) (  115 851) (  115 851)

As at 31 December 2019

Assets
Trade receivables (excluding prepayments)  2 065 661 - -    2 065 661
Cash and cash equivalents   95 441 - -     95 441

Total assets  2 161 102 - -    2 161 102

Liabilities
Trade payables (   2 229 438) - - (   2 229 438)

Total liabilities ( 2 229 438) - - (   2 229 438)

Liquidity position (    68 336) - - (    68 336)

Cumulative liquidity gap (  68 336) (  68 336) (  68 336)

   4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT

(a) Useful lives and residual values of property and equipment
The Group calculates depreciation on property and equipment on the straight-line basis so as to write off the cost of the assets over their
expected useful lives. The economic life of an asset is determined based on existing wear and tear, economic and technical ageing, legal or
other limits on the use of the asset, and obsolescence. If some of these factors were to deteriorate materially, impairing the ability of the asset
to generate future cash flows, the Group may accelerate depreciation charges to reflect the remaining useful life of the asset, or record an
impairment loss.

The Group determines residual values on an annual basis.  Management determines the residual values and useful lives of assets with
reference to the Group policy for depreciation of that specific class of asset as well as performance of the asset.

(b) Provisions
Provisions were raised and management determine an estimate based on the information available. Additional disclosure of the provisions are
included in note 10.

   4 PROPERTY, VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold Computers
Land property Motor Plant and Furniture and 

and buildings improvements vehicles machinery and fittings accessories Total
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Year ended 31 December 2019

Opening net book amount    680 000   2 888 927    295 619    627 258    45 759    11 651   4 549 214 
Additions -    5 000 - -     667    9 293    14 960 
Impairment loss - - - - - - - 
Disposals - - - - - - - 
Depreciation charge (   13 600) (  1 003 177) (   109 174) (   30 843) (   18 527) (   15 424) (  1 190 745)

Closing net book amount

As at 31 December 2019

Cost
Accumulated depreciation (   13 600) (  8 393 708) (  1 298 808) (   212 962) (   167 222) (   154 879) (  10 241 179)

Net book amount    666 400   1 890 750    186 445    596 415    27 899    5 520   3 373 429 

   666 400   1 890 750    186 445    596 415    27 899    5 520   3 373 429 

   680 000   10 284 458   1 485 253    809 377    195 121    160 399   13 614 608 
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   4 PROPERTY, VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group Leasehold Computers
Land property Motor Plant and Furniture and 

and buildings improvements vehicles machinery and fittings accessories Total
US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Year ended 31 December 2020

Opening net book amount    666 400   1 890 750    186 445    596 415    27 899    5 520   3 373 429 
Additions -    4 560 -    6 980    2 009    18 883    32 432 
Revaluation surplus    47 200 - - - - -    47 200 
Depreciation charge (   13 600) (  1 028 522) (   97 991) (   76 145) (   10 559)    6 401 (  1 220 416)
Prior period adjustment - - - - - - 

Closing net book amount    700 000    866 788    88 454    527 250    19 349    30 804   2 232 645 

As at 31 December 2020

Cost/revaluation    700 000   10 289 018   1 485 253    816 357    197 130    179 282   13 667 040 
Accumulated depreciation - (  9 422 230) (  1 396 799) (   289 107) (   177 781) (   148 478) (  11 434 395)

Net book amount    700 000    866 788    88 454    527 250    19 349    30 804   2 232 645 

Organisation

Year ended 31 December 2019

Opening net book amount   2 888 927    295 619    627 258    45 759    11 651   3 869 214 
Additions    5 000 - -     667    9 293    14 960 
Impairment loss - - - - - - 
Disposals - - - - - - 
Depreciation charge (  1 003 177) (   109 174) (   30 843) (   18 527) (   15 424) (  1 177 145)

Closing net book amount   1 890 750    186 445    596 415    27 899    5 520   2 707 029 

As at 31 December 2019

Cost   10 284 458   1 485 253    809 377    195 121    160 399   12 934 608 
Accumulated depreciation (  8 393 708) (  1 298 808) (   212 962) (   167 222) (   154 879) (  10 227 579)

Net book amount   1 890 750    186 445    596 415    27 899    5 520   2 707 029 

Year ended 31 December 2020

Opening net book amount   1 890 750    186 445    596 415    27 899    5 520   2 707 029 
Additions    4 560 -    6 980    2 009    18 883    32 432 
Revaluation surplus - - - - - - 
Depreciation charge (  1 028 522) (   97 991) (   76 145) (   10 559)    6 401 (  1 206 816)
Prior period adjustment - - - - - 

Closing net book amount    866 788    88 454    527 250    19 349    30 804   1 532 645 

As at 31 December 2020

Cost/revaluation   10 289 018   1 485 253    816 357    197 130    179 282   12 967 040 
Accumulated depreciation (  9 422 230) (  1 396 799) (   289 107) (   177 781) (   148 478) (  11 434 395)

Net book amount    866 788    88 454    527 250    19 349    30 804   1 532 645 

Valuation techniques used to derive the fair values of land and buildings
The property market is highly segmented into different sectors i.e industrial, residential and commercial property market. There is further
segregation on a geographical basis with some locations attracting a higher demand than others. Each market tends to have characteristics
peculiar to it. This results in sharp differences in the values of the different  properties based on type, location and demand for the particular
property.

The revaluation has been carried out by an independent professional valuation expert, Rawson Properties, on the following basis: 

Level 3 fair values
The investment approach (an income based approach) was applied to determine the fair value of the property. It is based on the principle that
rentals and capital values are inter-related. This approach is used to value properties that are let out to produce income for the investor. The fair
values were determined as the product of the net rental income that the properties are capable of producing, and a capitalisation factor (yield).
Both elements were derived using comparison techniques i.e. drawn from rentals earned by the comparable properties in the same locality as
the properties and having similar usage and size; and yields from alternative investments and those achieved on sales transactions closed for
some commercial properties in recent years.

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements.

Industrial
buildings rate and expected vacancy rate,

the lower the fair value
Vacancy rates

Market rentals per sqm The higher the rental income,
the higher the fair value

US$0.2 -US$$6

0%

Capitalisation rate The higher the capitalisation11%

Unobservable input Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

Range of inputs
Description
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2020 2019
5.  INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES US$ US$

Opening balance
Share of profit of investments in subsidiaries accounted for using the equity method

Closing balance

Analysis of investments

Secondy Investments (Private) Limited
Brosely Investments (Private) Limited

Secody Investments (Private) Limited and Brosely Investments (Private) Limited are companies wholly owned
by Zimbabwe Cricket. The investments are measured using the equity method in terms of paragraph 10 (c) of
IAS 27, 'Separate financial statements'.

6.  RIGHT OF USE ASSET

Opening balance
Additions
Depreciation expense

Closing balance

The Group entered into a four year lease agreement for use Harare Sports Club buildings. Annual lease
payments are US$90 000. A discounting factor of 12% (2019: 12%) was used to calculate the present value of
this lease contract

7.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

International Cricket Council
Staff debtors

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to be the same as
their fair value. The effect of discounting is negligible. The fair values are classified as level 3 fair values in
the fair value hierarchy due to the inclusion of unobservable inputs, including counterparty credit risk.

Trade and other receivables amounting to US$1 315 983 (2019: US$1 528 737) are not past due.

Trade and other receivables fully performing
At 31 December 2020, trade and other receivables fully performing amounted to US$1 315 983
 (2019: US$1 315 737)

Trade and other receivables impaired
At 31 December 2020, no trade and other receivables (2019: US$ nil) were impaired and
provided for.

The amount of the provision was US$ nil as of 31 December 2020 (2019: US$ nil).

Currencies
The carrying amount of trade and other receivables are denominated in United States Dollars

8.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank
Cash on hand

Analysis of bank and cash balances

Balances in US$
Balances in ZWL

9.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Other payables
Statutory obligations and salaries

    680 000     680 000

    360 000     350 000

    205 021 - 
-     273 361

    769 292    2 062 079

2020 2019
US$ US$

    7 146     94 995
    6 046      446

    9 011     95 233
    4 181      208

    433 214    1 261 765
    136 592 - 
    659 827     556 747

   1 229 633    1 818 512

    13 192     95 441

    13 192     95 441

    13 348     3 582

    782 640    2 065 661

(    68 408) (    68 340)

    136 613     205 021

    340 000     330 000

    700 000     680 000

    20 000 - 

    700 000     680 000
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10.  PROVISIONS

Legal Audit Other 
Leave pay fees fees provisions Total

Year ended 31 December 2019 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

As at 1 January 2019
Arising during the year
Unused amounts reversed
Utilised

As at 31 December 2019

Year ended 31 December 2020

As at 1 January 2020
Arising during the year
Unused amounts reversed
Utilised

As at 31 December 2020

Leave pay 
Leave pay for employees is provided on the basis of leave days accumulated at an expected rate of payment. The timings of the cash out-flows
are by their nature uncertain.

2020 2019
11.  LEASE LIABILITY US$ US$

Opening balance     306 165 - 
Additions -     273 361
Repayments (    19 263) - 
Finance costs

Closing balance

Analysis of the lease liabilities:
Long-term     151 647     216 165

Short-term     161 195     90 000

12.  INCOME

International Cricket Council distributions    5 292 791   11 500 000
Hosting event fees     25 000    362 015
Gate takings and other income     202 651    43 319

Rendering of services    5 520 442    11 905 334
Sale of goods - - 

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
The Group disaggregates revenue from customers as follows: Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time   5 520 442   11 905 334
Over time -                    -                   

13.  INTERNATIONAL CRICKET EXPENSES

Netherlands/Ireland tour -                       191 232
UAE tour    140 793    170 387
Women regional qualifiers -                       372 594
Analysis equipment -                       48 000
2019/2020 Under 19 Men's World Cup -                       24 326
Travel and accommodation costs -                       66 011
Women's tours -                       77 895
Repairs and maintenance of ground equipment    22 397
Zimbabwe to Bangladesh    134 302    101 165
Zimbabwe v Pakistan tour expenses    387 743 -                   
Under 19 Professional Team - SA tour expenses    50 602 -                   
Sri Lanka tour    445 763 -                   
Afghanistan v Zimbabwe    4 500 -                   
Professional Team Woman - Thailand tour    27 357 -                   
County cricket    26 396 -                   
Other expenses      993 -                   

    68 738     234 035     15 000     3 153     320 926

    203 375    1 057 278 - -    1 260 653
- -     15 000     3 153     18 153
- (    823 243) - - (    823 243)

(    134 637) (    134 637)- - - 

  68 738     234 035     15 000     3 153     320 926
- - - - - 
- (    148 945) - - (    148 944)

(    24 563) (    75 090) (    15 000) (    3 153) (    117 806)

    44 175     10 000 - -     54 175

    25 940     32 804

    312 842     306 165

    312 842     306 165

  5 520 442   11 905 334

  5 520 442   11 905 334

  5 520 442   11 905 334

  1 218 449   1 074 007
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

2020 2019
14 DOMESTIC CRICKET EXPENSES US$ US$

Salaries     788 891     806 762
T20 expenses and pro 50 expenses -     32 849
Logan Cup expenses     370 003     131 345
Administration costs     4 885     42 346
ZC academy     5 231     10 552
Anti doping tests     11 000     44 000
Ground rentals -     8 000
Provincial League     2 950     15 000
Provincial women's tournaments     74 789 - 
Kit for league games     72 536 - 
Other expenses -     1 293

    2 019     7 961

15 CENTRAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Telephone and cell phone charges     7 980     17 028
Advertising     20 296 - 
Office rentals     11 442     3 080
Printing  stationery and postage     6 957     8 372
Electricity, rates and water     6 244     6 012
Accommodation, travel and allowances     20 552     88 114
Repairs and maintenance     37 670     32 653
Computer consumables and IT related costs     36 297     32 060

Insurance -     34 955
ICC recharges     19 972     103 884
Bank charges     29 680     22 362
Audit fees     52 595     41 839
Legal costs     12 199     68 237
Board fees     47 096     40 204
Covid expenses     44 213 - 
Subscriptions and Levies     2 409 - 
General expenses     11 740     25 089
Staff welfare, meals and office supplies     23 146     16 186
Motor vehicle costs     7 130 - 
Staff training      140     1 307
Security     6 092     3 514
Consulting     3 087 - 
Bad debts written off -     19 904
Write offs -     65 843

Other administration expenses     27 767 - 

16 HUMAN RESOURCES

International cricket
Central administration    1 620 326    2 230 876
Leave pay provision    1 083 947     989 649

(    24 563) (    134 637)

17 FINANCE CHARGES

Zimbabwe Asset Management Company loan interest -     56 982
ICC loan interest -     167 268
Lease interest     25 940     32 804

2020 2019 2020 2019
18 DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT US$ US$ US$ US$

property and equipment depreciation
Intangible asset impairment
Right of use asset depreciation

19 RELATED PARTIES

19.1 Relationships

Name Nature of relationship
Brosely investments (Private) Limited Wholly owned subsidiary of Zimbabwe Cricket
Secody investments (Private) Limited Wholly owned subsidiary of Zimbabwe Cricket
Mhishi Nkomo Legal Practice Controlled by a non-executive director of the Zimbabwe Cricket
Zimbabwe Pharmaceuticals (Private) Limited Controlled by the Chairman of Zimbabwe Cricket's board of directors

OrganisationGroup

   1 332 304    1 100 108

    434 704     630 643

   2 679 710    3 085 888

    25 940     257 054

   1 288 824    1 297 772    1 275 224    1 284 172

   1 220 416    1 190 745    1 206 816    1 177 145
-     38 687 -     38 687

    68 408     68 340     68 408     68 340
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ZIMBABWE CRICKET

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 

2020 2019
19 RELATED PARTIES (continued) US$ US$

19.2 Transactions

Legal services renders by Mhishi Nkomo Legal Practice to Zimbabwe Cricket     11 615     6 219
Purchase of medical supplies from Zimpharm     36 235 - 
Board fees for non-executive directors     44 213     27 720
Remuneration of key management personnel     498 617     529 648

All the above-mentioned transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm‟s length
transactions.

19.3 Balances

Payable to Mhishi Nkomo Legal Practice     5 707     96 404

20 PRIOR PERIOD ERROR

Each year the Organisation is allocated a grant by the ICC to meet its major expenses. During the 2019 financial year the Organisation was
placed under controlled funding, the effect was that the Organisation's allocated grant would be paid to the extent of expenses incurred. The
Organisation had recognised all the allocated grant and recognised a receivable on the outstanding balance with the ICC.

Due to the controlled funding, the Organisation had no control over the manner in which the grant was disbursed. This treatment was not in line
with the IFRS, which require the Organisation to recognise the amounts received as income.

The matter constitutes an error as defined by the IAS 8, 'Accounting policies, Changes in accounting estimates and errors'. The error is a
material misstatement to prior period presented and therefore the error identified has been corrected retrospectively. 

The effect of the error identified on the prior period has been quantified as follows

Group Organisation
Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020 US$ US$

Trade and other receivables
As previously restated    1 315 983    1 315 983
Adjustment in respect of revenue recognised in error (    533 342) (    533 342)

Restated balance

Retained earnings
As previously restated (   1 236 760) (   1 189 561)
Adjustment in respect of revenue recognised in error (    533 342) (    533 342)

Restated balance

Risk management

Trade receivables (excluding prepayments)
As previously restated    1 315 983    1 315 983
Adjustment in respect of revenue recognised in error (    533 342) (    533 342)

Restated balance

C CONTROLLED FUNDING

The Zimbabwe Cricket was placed on controlled funding by the ICC in the 2019 year to enable it to clear its debts. The mearnt that
organisation would receive the funding to the extent of epenses incurred. An unused balance is carried forward to the next year. During the
year the unused portion of the grant carried forward was 4 260 550  (2019: 533 342). As all the debts were cleared in 2019 organisation
expect the controlled funding to end in the 2021.

C EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

Impact of the Covid - 19 outbreak

In 2021, the Covid - 19 pandemic resulted in increased operating costs for both domestic and international cricket due to increased
accommodation costs and cost of personal protective equipment ("PPE"). Some revenues expected from Television rights on certain

games were not realised as the games were postponed thus resulted in the Organisation failing below budgeted revenue amounts. This has
no threat on going concern as the Organisation receives a grant from International Cricket council to meet its major expenses.

    782 641     782 641

(   1 770 102) (   1 722 903)

    782 641     782 641

    5 707     96 404
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Corner Josiah Tongogara Avenue/Fi�h StreetHarare

P.O. Box 2739
Harare, Zimbabwe

Telephone: +263-4-788090/5, 776661/2
Fax: +263-4-788094

E-mail: info@zimcricket.org


